1951

W. P. Wooldridge v. C. L. Wareing : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF CASE

The plaintiff brought this action against the defendant to recover for the reasonable value of work, labor and services alleged to have been performed for the defendant at his request for the purpose of selling Vogt Tube Ice Machines and supplemental equipment and services in the summer of the year 1947 and continuing until the latter part of 1948. In his complaint plaintiff alleges a second cause of action which

is likewise for the value of work, labor and services performed for the defendant for the purpose of selling Vogt Tube Ice Machines and supplemental equipment and services commencing in the summer of 1947 and continuing until the latter part of the year 1948. The difference between the two alleged causes of action is that in the first alleged cause of action the claims are for services rendered in an attempt to secure contracts with numerous persons and corporations, while in the second alleged cause of action the claim for compensation is limited to services rendered in the alleged assistance rendered by the plaintiff to the defendant in securing a contract from Guy F. Atkinson Company of San Francisco, California, for the installation of an ice plant at the McNary Dam, which was constructed in the State of Oregon, and also for assistance alleged to have been rendered by the plaintiff to the defendant in securing a contract for the installation of a Vogt Tube Ice Machine for J. J. Crosetti Company at Watsonville, California. No claim is made by the pleadings, nor is there any evidence which shows or tends to show that the plaintiff did anything toward the actual construction of either of the installations. In the second cause of action plaintiff alleges that the defendant agreed to pay plaintiff one-half of all commissions received from sales which were made possible by the services of the plaintiff. R. 1 to 3. By his answer the defendant denied generally the allegations of the complaint, and alleges that plaintiff has been paid in full for his services. R. 10 and 11. The trial court found "that the plaintiff performed services for the defendant at his request in contacting Guy F. Atkinson Company for the purpose of selling a Vogt Tube Ice Machine and through the joint efforts of both the plaintiff

and defendant a contract for the sale and installation of a Vogt Tube Ice Plant at McNary Dam was negotiated with Guy F. Atkinson in the sum of \$126,000.00; that the reasonable value of the services performed by the plaintiff in contacting the Guy F. Atkinson Company is \$4,000.00; that there was no contract between the parties as to these services and therefore the plaintiff cannot recover under the second count of the complaint.”

The trial court further found that “Plaintiff also assisted the defendant in the selling and supervising of the installation of a Vogt Tube Ice Machine to the J. J. Crosetti Company. The parties hereto settled a dispute as to the amount of compensation to be paid for this job for the sum of \$1,800.00, \$1,500.00 of which has been paid.”

As a conclusion of law, the court concluded that the plaintiff is entitled to a judgment against the defendant for services rendered in the sum of \$4,300.00, plus interest at the rate of six percent from the 28th day of February, 1949. R. 25-26.

Judgment was entered in favor of the plaintiff and against the defendant in conformity with the Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law. R. 26-A.

Defendant prosecutes this appeal from the judgment so rendered.

There is a vast amount of evidence and numerous exhibits which have but little, if any, bearing upon the questions presented for review. The only matters involved on this appeal relate to the contract with Guy F. Atkinson Company

and J. J. Crosetti Company. It is made to appear without dispute that defendant entered into a contract with each of such companies to install and did install a Vogt Tube Ice Machine. Plaintiff's claim for compensation for services alleged to have been rendered in the other matters mentioned in his first cause of action were, by the court, denied. No cross appeal has been taken from the judgment in such particular and therefore we need not be concerned with such matters, except possibly as the evidence with respect thereto may shed some light on the matters involved on this appeal.

The plaintiff and defendant were old acquaintances and some years ago, in about 1926 or 1927, had resided in the same rooming house in Rochester, New York. At that time, Mr. Wareing, the defendant, was representing, as a salesman, the Ingersoll-Rand Company and the plaintiff, Mr. Wooldridge, represented, as salesman, the National Tube Company, and they both had a customer, Haverstack & Company. Tr. 42. Later the plaintiff moved to San Mateo, near San Francisco, California, and the defendant moved to Cleveland, Ohio. The defendant became interested in and familiar with the Vogt Tube Ice Machine. Plaintiff and defendant kept up a correspondence and occasionally visited together. Tr. 44-47. Numerous letters were marked and admitted as evidence, but only a very few of these letters shed any light on the matters involved on this appeal and therefore we shall direct the court's attention to only those letters and other exhibits which we deem material to the questions presented on this appeal.

In about October, 1945, Mr. Wareing ceased working for Ingersoll-Rand because of ill health and he later went into

business for himself, devoting his time in promoting the Vogt Tube Ice Machine, with which he had been interested since around 1936, with his headquarters at Salt Lake City, Utah. In January and July, 1946, Mr. Wareing went to California and made contacts with respect to the use of the Vogt Tube Ice Machine in the vegetable packing business, and then had no business contacts with plaintiff. In August, 1947, he told Wooldridge what he had been doing and that he, Wareing, believed that there were great possibilities for the sale of the tube ice machines on the coast in connection with the packing of fresh vegetables along the coast. Tr. 50, 350-352. Mr. Wooldridge testified that at the time of the first visit to the coast, Mr. Wareing left with him certain literature and suggested that he, Wooldridge, become acquainted with the Vogt Tube Ice Machine. Tr. 51. The plaintiff and defendant talked over the matter of forming a corporation for the purpose of selling Vogt Tube Ice Machines in which defendant would give plaintiff an interest, but no such corporation was ever formed. Tr. 161-162.

When defendant, Wareing, made a later trip to California, he suggested to plaintiff, Wooldridge, that they make some investigation and call upon prospective purchasers of the Vogt Tube Ice Machine. Tr. 51. Plaintiff testified at considerable length touching calls made by him and the defendant on various hotels, firms and individuals who might be interested in the purchase of a Vogt Tube Ice Machine.

In light of the fact that the plaintiff testified that he did not expect to be paid for time that he spent in an attempt to sell Vogt Tube Ice Machines that did not result in making a

sale (Tr. 215) and the further fact that the court did not allow the plaintiff any compensation for such efforts, no useful purpose will be served by an analysis of testimony touching the efforts made by the parties to secure sales which did not materialize. Suffice it to say that the plaintiff was engaged in selling machinery and equipment for various manufacturers on the Pacific coast and he continued to carry on as a salesman in connection with his efforts in assisting the defendant to sell the Vogt Tube Ice Machine. Tr. 254.

There is no evidence of a contract between the parties to this controversy as to the compensation, if any, that should be paid to the plaintiff for any services that he might render in connection with the sale of the Tube Ice Machine. The court so found. R. 25.

The testimony of the plaintiff is that the defendant would

“do the fair and square thing.” (Tr. 56-57 and 150), and that defendant

“didn’t agree to give me anything” (for his services). Tr. 281.

It is made to appear that of the various persons, firms and corporations that were contacted by the parties to this controversy in their efforts to sell Vogt Tube Ice Machines, only four contracts were secured. Two of the contracts, one with the American-Arabian Oil Company and the other called the DeLamar-Venzuela contract, were amicably settled, each of the parties receiving one-half of the profits derived from the sales. It should be noted that each of said contracts was merely for the sale of the specified articles and that no engineering

or other work was required of either of the parties to this controversy in connection with such sales. Tr. 93 to 99.

The other two contracts which forms the subject matter of this controversy were: one was with J. J. Crosetti, shown in Exhibit "D"; the other contract with Guy F. Atkinson Company shown in Exhibit "I."

The contract price for the Crosetti job was \$125,000.00 of which amount \$105,317.99 was paid for materials. See Exhibit "4." The contract price for the McNary Dam was \$126,000.00. There was paid for the materials on that job the sum of \$105,850.65 and \$2,000.00 was paid by defendant to the Cramer Machinery Company with whom the defendant was compelled to divide any commission that he might make on the deal. See Exhibit 5. While the trial court refused to receive as evidence Exhibits 4 and 5, the information contained in those exhibits will be found on pages 416 to 420 of the Transcript.

The sum of \$1,500.00 was paid by the defendant to the plaintiff on the Crosetti contract. According to the testimony of the plaintiff the defendant promised to pay an additional \$300.00. Tr. 145. While it is not entirely clear, apparently plaintiff claims the promise to pay the additional \$300.00 was to pay for a trip to Las Vegas. In connection with the claimed promise to pay \$300.00, the evidence of both plaintiff and defendant is to the effect that each was to pay his own expenses while engaged in the solicitation of contracts for the sale of the Vogt Tube Ice Machines. Tr. 164-165. So far as appears, neither of the parties to this litigation kept an account of the expenses incurred while engaged in soliciting

contracts for the sale of the Vogt Tube Ice Machines. That being so, the Trial Court and this Court are powerless to grant any relief to either of the parties by reason of their having been put to expenses in soliciting contracts for the sale of Vogt Tube Ice Machines.

The evidence in this case is somewhat voluminous, consisting of 473 pages of the transcribed testimony, together with numerous exhibits. A discussion of all the testimony would probably tend to confuse rather than to clarify the questions which divide the parties to this controversy. In the course of this Brief, we shall, therefore, undertake to discuss only those portions of the evidence which shed light on the questions which the defendant and appellant seeks to have reviewed by this Court.

DEFENDANT AND APPELLANT RELIES UPON THE FOLLOWING POINTS FOR A REVERSAL OF THE JUDGMENT APPEALED FROM:

POINT ONE

The evidence, when viewed most favorably to plaintiff, shows that by the express agreement between the plaintiff and defendant the defendant had a right to pay the plaintiff whatever he, defendant, deemed fair and proper for the services of plaintiff, and defendant having done so, the plaintiff is wholly without right to recover any additional compensation.

POINT TWO

The Trial Court erred in making its Finding that "The parties heretofore settled a dispute as to the amount of com-

pensation to be paid for this job (J. J. Crosetti Company job) for the sum of \$1,800.00," and likewise erred in entering judgment in favor of the plaintiff and against the defendant for \$300.00 as the balance owing on the J. J. Crosetti job R. 26 and 27.

POINT THREE

The Trial Court erred in making its Finding "That the reasonable value of the services performed by the plaintiff in contacting the Guy F. Atkinson Company is \$4,000.00," and likewise erred in rendering a judgment against the defendant and in favor of the plaintiff for services rendered in connection with the McNary Dam job for the sum of \$4,000.00.

POINT FOUR

Even if the defendant is obligated to pay the plaintiff something for services in connection with the procuring of the contract touching the McNary Dam job, the evidence does not support an award to exceed a fractional part of \$4,000.00.

POINT FIVE

The Trial Court misconceived the evidence when it found that the last payment was made on the Guy F. Atkinson contract on February 28, 1949, R. 25, and erred in awarding interest on the amount found to be due from and after February 28, 1949.

POINT SIX

In light of the fact, as is heretofore pointed out, there is

no evidence to support the judgment, it would appear that such judgment was rendered as a result of the bias and prejudice of the Trial Court.

ARGUMENT

In our statement of the case we have heretofore directed the attention of the Court to the fact that prior to the defendant and plaintiff becoming associated together in connection with the sale of Vogt Tube Ice Machines on the Pacific coast, they had been friends and lived in the same rooming house; that the plaintiff had taken up his residence in California quite some time before 1947 when he and the defendant discussed the matter of attempting to sell Vogt Tube Ice Machines along the Pacific coast; that the plaintiff was engaged in selling machinery and equipment when the defendant first talked to the plaintiff about selling these machines in California; that defendant advised plaintiff he planned to form a corporation to take over the business of selling the machines, but this plan failed to materialize because Vogt people would not give defendant a written contract granting the right to sell such machines. According to plaintiff's testimony the plaintiff and defendant had conversations as to what plaintiff should receive for assisting in the sale of Vogt Tube Ice Machines, and the defendant said:

"that he didn't have any written arrangement with the Vogt people and that we had been practically life-long friends and did I trust him or not, and I told him, of course, I trusted him, and he would count on me—I could count on him to do the fair and square thing. Tr. 56.

Again on page 281 of the transcript the plaintiff testified that the defendant "didn't agree to give me anything." There is other testimony of the plaintiff that he and the defendant talked about 40 per cent. Tr. 281.

It will thus be seen that the parties did not come to any definite agreement as to what the plaintiff should be paid for such assistance as the plaintiff might render to the defendant in the sale of the Vogt Tube Ice Machines. In light of the fact that the Trial Court held there was not a contract, we shall not at this time cite any of the numerous authorities which support the holding of the Trial Court to the effect that there was no contract between the plaintiff and defendant touching the compensation that plaintiff should receive for assisting the defendant in the sale of the Vogt Tube Ice Machines.

It will be seen from the Findings and Conclusions that the Trial Court based its judgment on what it found to be the reasonable value of the services rendered by the plaintiff. R. 25.

It will be noted from the evidence in this case, viewed in a light most favorable to the plaintiff, that the defendant reserved the right to pay to the plaintiff for his services such an amount as he, the defendant, should deem fair and just. Such, according to plaintiff's evidence, was the purport of the arrangement had by plaintiff and defendant at the inception of their arrangement and such, according to plaintiff's evidence, was the repeated statement of the defendant after the plaintiff became interested in assisting the defendant in an attempt to

sell Vogt Tube Ice Machines. Tr. 56-57, 145-150, 191-192, 195, 213.

POINT ONE

THE EVIDENCE, WHEN VIEWED MOST FAVORABLY TO PLAINTIFF, SHOWS THAT BY THE EXPRESS AGREEMENT BETWEEN THE PLAINTIFF AND DEFENDANT THE DEFENDANT HAD A RIGHT TO PAY THE PLAINTIFF WHATEVER HE, DEFENDANT, DEEMED FAIR AND PROPER FOR THE SERVICES OF PLAINTIFF, AND DEFENDANT HAVING DONE SO, THE PLAINTIFF IS WHOLLY WITHOUT RIGHT TO RECOVER ANY ADDITIONAL COMPENSATION.

While the cases dealing with facts somewhat similar to the facts in this case are not all in harmony as we read the cases and other authorities where, as here, the promisor reserves the right to determine what he shall pay for services of a promisee, the weight of authority is to the effect that the promisee having rendered services under such circumstances may not be heard to complain merely because he is not satisfied with what the promisor determines to pay to the promisee, at least where the promisor acts in good faith. Among the cases and authorities which support such doctrine are: Restatement of Contracts, Sec. 32, "A statement by A that he will pay B what A chooses is no promise." In the case of *Corthell vs. Summit Thread Company*, 132 Me. 94, 167 Atl. 79, 92 A.L.R. 1391 at 1394 it is said: "If the contract makes no statement as to the price to be paid the law invokes the standard of reasonableness, and the fair value of the services or property

is recoverable. If the terms of the agreement are uncertain as to price, but exclude the supposition that a reasonable price was intended, no contract can arise. And a reservation to either party of an unlimited right to determine the nature and extent of his performance renders his obligation too indefinite for legal enforcement, making it, as it is termed, merely illusory." Williston on Contracts, Vol. 1, Sec. 37 et seq. See extended note 53 L.R.A. 288 et seq. 13 C. J. 266 and cases cited. Other cases which are cited in the case of *Corthell vs. Summit Thread Company* supra and which are to the same effect are *Gaines vs. Tobacco Co.*, 163 Ky. 716 SW 482; *Cauet vs. Smith*, 86 Misc. 99, 149 N. Y. S. 101, 103; *United Press vs. New York Press Co.*, 164 N. Y. 406, 58 N. E. 527, (53 L.R.A. 288;) *Varney vs. Ditmars*, 217 N. Y. 223, 111 NE 822, 823; *Ann. Cases 1916 B 758*. Other cases to the same effect where executory contracts are involved are *Fairplay School Twp. vs. O'Neal*, 127 Ind. 95, 26 NE 686; *Raisler Sprinkler Co. vs. Automatic Sprinkler Co.*, (Del.) 171 Atl. 214. Other cases where the promisee is bound by the reservations even if the contract is executed are: *In Lee's appeal*, 53 Conn., 363, 2 Atl. 758; *Crowell vs. Houde Engineering Corp.* (Mo.) 19 SW (2d) 516; *Donovan vs. Bull Mountain Trading Co.*, 60 Mont. 87, 198 Pac. 436; *Butler vs. Winona Mill Co.*, 28 Minn. 205, 9 NW 697; *Butler vs. Kemmerer*, 218 Pa. 242, 67 Atl. 332; *Mackintosh vs. Kimball*, 92 NYS 132. Other cases to the same effect are cited in the cases above cited.

There are cases, which upon a casual reading, seem to take a contrary view, but upon a careful reading, most, if not all of such cases, are distinguishable in that in effect the

language used is a promise to pay a reasonable compensation. There is an annotation in 92 A.L.R. 1396 where the cases dealing with the question of when recovery may or may not be had on a promise which leaves the amount to be paid to the promisor's determination are cited and discussed. On page 1400 of 92 A.L.R. the following is stated to be the views of Woodward on Quasi Contracts:

"These variations (i.e. variations in court decisions) may, to some extent, be reconciled by resort to the theories propounded by Woodward on Quasi Contracts in which in Sec. 65 he says that, where the form or character of the promise leads to the conclusion that the plaintiff in a subsequent action thereon did not rely upon it as a contractual obligation, but trusted the fairness and liberality of the promisor, there is no contract, no misreliance upon a supposed contract, and consequently no legal obligation whatever."

In this case the evidence of the plaintiff makes it clear that each time he discussed the matter of compensation with the defendant, the plaintiff was in effect told that he must rely upon what the defendant determined should be paid. If the plaintiff was not satisfied with that arrangement, he was at all times at liberty to quit. To permit the plaintiff to now ignore the arrangement had between him and the defendant would be to permit the plaintiff to recover and require the defendant to pay for services without either an express or implied agreement to pay any amount other than what the defendant should determine.

There was a definite agreement as to the compensation that should be paid to plaintiff on the American-Arabian and DeLamar contracts and the amount agreed upon was paid.

Tr. 97-99. The sum of \$1,500.00 was paid by defendant and accepted by the plaintiff on the J. J. Crosetti job. According to plaintiff whenever he asked the defendant for a written contract defendant replied:

"He said that he didn't have any written arrangements with the Vogt people and that we had been practically life-long friends and did I trust him or not, and I told him, of course I trusted him and he said, well, then such a thing is not necessary. That he could count on me—I could count on him to do the fair and square thing." Tr. 56.

Plaintiff further testified:

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