1951

W. P. Wooldridge v. C. L. Wareing : Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

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

ARGUMENT

POINT ONE

THERE IS SUFFICIENT EVIDENCE TO SUSTAIN THE COURT'S FINDING THAT THERE WAS NO CONTRACT AND THAT THE RESPONDENT WAS ENTITLED TO RECOVER FOR THE REASONABLE VALUE OF HIS SERVICES. (Reply to appellant's Point One.)

Before reviewing the evidence as required in reply to appellant's argument, the respondent concedes that there was no evidence of an express agreement to pay a particular amount. The count in the complaint seeking to recover on the terms of a contract was based on the grounds that an implied in fact contract for one-half of the commissions could be shown from the conduct of the parties. At the commencement of the transactions pertaining to the sale of Vogt equipment, the appellant agreed to give the respondent 50% of any commissions received from the sale of Rathbun-Jones' products which the appellant was authorized or would be authorized to sell. (Tr. 191) The appellant further divided the commissions 50-50 with the respondent on the sale to the American-Arabian Oil Co. and the Venezuela sale. (Tr. 98) The appellant referred to these sales when assuring respondent that he would be treated fairly.

Although the court may have found such an implied in fact contract, at the request of appellant Finding of Fact No. 3 was modified by interlineation to provide that

there was no contract and recovery could not be had on Count 2 of the complaint.

The respondent doesn't contend that this Finding of Fact was error but concedes that there is "some competent evidence" in support of such finding. The appellant, however, after having the court by interlineation make such a finding now asserts in Point One of his argument that there was an express agreement to pay what the appellant deemed fair and just. Authorities are then cited by appellant to the effect that such a contract is not in fact a contract at all since the term, to pay what one chooses to pay, is illusory. The respondent does not contest the rule of law announced by the authorities cited by appellant, but rather states that such rule of law supports the finding of the court that there was not a contract between the parties. However, in view of the authorities cited by appellant, he asserts that since the payment was made in accordance with said agreement (not found by the court) the appellant is not entitled to seek compensation. The appellant states on page six of his brief in the first complete paragraph, "There is no evidence of a contract between the parties to this controversy as to the compensation, if any;" also at page eleven of appellant's brief it is stated that there was no definite agreement and that the appellant would not cite any of the numerous authorities which would support the holding of the court that there was no contract.

The very authorities cited by the appellant in point one hold that where a contract cannot be found because it is too indefinite or is illusory, that compensation on

quantum meruit can be recovered. For instance, the annotation in 92 A.L.R. 1396, 1406 states as follows:

“And it would seem that the general rule is that when a contract expressly or impliedly reserving in the promissor the right to determine the compensation to be paid for goods or services has been performed by the promisee, recovery of the reasonable value of such performance may be had either in an action on the contract in which recovery is measured by a quantum meruit or on a quantum meruit action alone. (See Subd. II C. 5, *infra*)

“Particularly does this seem to be true where the express or implied reservation on the part of the promissor is coupled with the provision that the payment to be made shall be ‘reasonable,’ ‘fair,’ ‘right,’ ‘good,’ etc.”

All of the evidence cited under point one by the appellant only substantiates the court's findings of no contract, and in addition points out that the appellant denied that he agreed to pay the respondent any amount for services rendered in the sale to Guy F. Atkinson Co. Also see Tr. 498.

No claim is asserted and the evidence is that no payment was made to respondent for services performed in the sale to Guy F. Atkinson, Co. for the McNary Dam job. However, point one of appellant's argument states first that there was an express agreement to pay plaintiff (respondent) whatever defendant (appellant) deemed fair; and second, defendant (appellant) had done so (paid what he deemed fair), and that plaintiff (re-

spondent) is wholly without right to recover any additional compensation. It is obvious that this phase of point one even if validly asserted can have no bearing with regard to the McNary Dam sale for which the \$4,000 was awarded by the court.

While the evidence does not show a specific, express contract, it is sufficient to sustain the court's finding to that effect; and it is sufficient to show that the services performed by the respondent were not considered as a gratuity by either party, and therefore, the respondent should be permitted to recover the reasonable value of the services performed.

POINT TWO

THERE IS SUFFICIENT EVIDENCE TO SUSTAIN THE COURT'S JUDGMENT, AND AWARD ON QUANTUM MERUIT OF \$4,000.00 FOR SERVICES RENDERED BY THE RESPONDENT FOR THE APPELLANT IN THE SALE TO GUY F. ATKINSON CO.; AND, THEREFORE, THE JUDGMENT WAS NOT RENDERED AS A RESULT OF BIAS AND PREJUDICE. (Reply to appellant's Points 3, 4, & 6)

The appellant's Points Three and Four challenge the sufficiency of the evidence to sustain the award of \$4,000.00 as the reasonable value of services performed. Appellant's Point Six challenges the sufficiency of the evidence to support the entire judgment. Since these points all are concerned with the sufficiency of the evidence and in effect call for a review of the entire case, the respondent shall not discuss each point separately, but will review the evidence generally.

In reviewing the sufficiency of the evidence on ap-

peal, to sustain the findings of the trial court, it is fundamental that the judgment will be affirmed if there is "any competent evidence upon which the trial court could base the judgment." Having this rule of law in mind the respondent shall review the evidence which is far more than adequate to sustain the judgment. A complete review of the sufficiency of the evidence can only be obtained by reading the entire transcript coordinated with the files of correspondence introduced as exhibits; however, the respondent respectfully submits the following summarized abstract of the evidence.

PRELIMINARY

The respondent is a graduate engineer, licensed as a professional engineer in the State of California for mechanical engineering. (Tr. 40-41) Since his graduation from college in 1924 he has continuously been associated with industrial firms. (Tr. 41) For 16 years he was associated with the U. S. Steel Corporation, more particularly with the Columbia Steel Co. of San Francisco. At the time he resigned in 1940 he was the company's sales manager for the San Francisco district. (Tr. 41) The respondent has resided on the Pacific Coast since 1932, more particularly in the San Francisco Bay area. (Tr. 43)

Prior to August 13, 1943, the appellant suggested to the respondent that while on a trip to Washington, D. C., respondent should inspect the tube-ice equipment at the New Statler Hotel. (Tr. 43) A letter dated August 13, 1943, written by the respondent to the appellant com-

ments on his visit and inspection of the tube-ice equipment at the Statler Hotel and states as follows:

“I really think that if you can get something sewed up on a West Coast deal, that now would be the time to do it. Personally, I am very enthusiastic and feel that the machines have all sorts of possibilities.” (Ex. A, #2)

Another letter dated Sept. 8, 1944, written by the respondent to the appellant states as follows:

“I have never forgotten the several discussions that you and I had regarding the tube-ice. With the end of the war at least assured within a reasonable time, I hope that your plans are materializing to do something with this. I feel that there is wonderful opportunity and no better place to put it across than the Pacific Coast. Do let me hear something from you regarding this.” (Ex. A, #4)

In addition to these letters there is evidence that the parties had numerous discussions concerning the possibility of selling Vogt tube-ice machines in the western states. (Tr. 47) In the summer of 1947 the appellant called the respondent concerning a trip he was going to make to California. (Tr. 47-48) Arrangements were made by the parties to meet each other in San Francisco, and at that meeting the appellant informed the respondent that he had resigned from the Ingersoll-Rand Co. and intended to engage in the sale of Vogt tube-ice machines, particularly for the purpose of packing fresh

vegetables which were to be shipped east. (Tr. 50) On this trip the appellant gave to the respondent literature concerning Vogt tube-ice machines and suggested that the respondent make himself acquainted with the material therein contained. (Tr. 50-51)

On September 5, 1947, the respondent wrote a letter to the appellant (Ex. A, #7) wherein he acknowledged receipt of additional information, stated that he had studied the same, requested 50 additional copies of the bulletins and indicated that he had already gone to work on the sale of the equipment. He also asked for other specific information and stated in addition as follows:

“Clancy, in order to get some idea as to how to allocate my time I wish you would give me something definite about the commission or earnings I can make by working with you. You know I am sold 100% on tube-ice and working with you is something I have looked forward to for a long time. I am also confident now that I can really help put the product over in California.

“I would also like to suggest that you notify Vogt that I am working under you so that they will know what we’re doing.”

The correspondence introduced as exhibits show that the Vogt Co. knew of the association of the parties hereto, and between Christmas and New Year’s Day, 1947 the appellant introduced the respondent to the officers of the Vogt Co. and took the respondent through the plant at Louisville, Kentucky. (Tr. 104)

During the month of September, 1947, the appellant again went to San Francisco and the parties hereto

jointly made contacts upon the St. Francis, Fairmont and Mark Hopkins Hotels as well as the Standard Oil Co. regarding Vogt tube-ice machines. (Tr. 50-52)

MISCELLANEOUS CONTACTS

ST. FRANCIS HOTEL

A letter of Sept. 5, 1947, (Ex. A, #9) reports on a call made upon the manager of the hotel. A letter of Sept. 9, 1947 (Ex. A, #10) requests additional information and reports on an additional contact. The letter of September 13, 1947 (Ex. A, #12) is from the respondent to the St. Francis Hotel, a copy of which was sent to the appellant. In addition to the letters the respondent testified that he probably made between eight and ten calls on the personnel of the hotel in an attempt to effectuate a sale. (Tr. 53)

PACIFIC BREWING AND MALTING CO.

The parties jointly contacted this prospective client. (Tr. 62) A letter of October 3, 1947 (Ex. A, #13) is a copy of a quotation made by the appellant to the Pacific Brewing and Malting Co., a copy of which was sent to the respondent by appellant.

MARIN-DELL MILK CO.

Letter of November 14, 1947 (Ex. A, #15) is a quotation to this prospective customer, a copy of which was sent to respondent. Respondent made follow-up contacts to this client on Nov. 18 and Dec. 3, 1947. (Tr. 62, 63)

MAJOR DISTRIBUTING CO., Salinas, Calif.

On Oct. 7, 1947, the parties contacted the owner of the company concerning a sale of the equipment. (Tr. 64) A letter of Nov. 21, 1947, is a quotation to that client. (Ex. A, #21) This letter was sent after a follow-up contact by both parties made on Nov. 5 and 6, 1947. At both calls the respondent furnished the transportation from San Francisco to Salinas, approximately 100 miles. (Tr. 64) The respondent made an additional contact on Nov. 21, 1947. (Tr. 65-66)

SECURITY WAREHOUSE AND COLD STORAGE CO.

A letter dated Nov. 28, 1947 (Ex. A #23) is a request to the Henry Vogt Machine Co. concerning tube-ice equipment. This letter was in turn forwarded to the appellant along with a reply letter sent by the Henry Vogt Machine Co. to the Security Warehouse and Cold Storage Co. dated Dec. 1, 1947. (Ex. A #24) Upon receipt of these letters the appellant forwarded them to the respondent and requested that he make a contact upon this company in an attempt to sell them a Vogt tube-ice machine. (Tr. 70-71) Numerous calls were made on this client both by the parties jointly and by the respondent individually. (Tr. 72) A letter dated Dec. 10, 1947 (Ex. A #25) is a report to the appellant of a call made by the respondent concerning this client. The respondent made two additional follow-up contacts; one on Dec. 17, 1947 and the other on April 29, 1948. (Tr. 74)

HOLLISTER ICE CO.

The respondent made a call on Dec. 9, 1947, on the Hollister Ice Co. approximately 150 miles from San Francisco and makes a report of that contact to the appellant in the letter dated Dec. 10, 1947. (Ex. A #26, Tr. 75)

MODERN ICE AND COLD STORAGE CO.

Respondent called on this client on two occasions and reported the contact to the appellant in his letter of Dec. 10, 1947. (Ex. A, #27, Tr. 76)

J. H. POMEROY CO.

An inquiry was made by this client to the manufacturer; this information was transferred to Mr. Wareing who in turn forwarded the information to the respondent, and a contact was made by the respondent on Feb. 16, 1948, as requested by the appellant. (Ltr. Dec. 22, 1947, Ex. A, #28, Tr. 76)

NEW HOTEL, Salinas, California

The respondent made a call on the architect preparing the plans for the hotel, supplied him with information; and received from the appellant information showing computations for the preparation of a bid. (Ex. A, #29) From the pencil notations prepared by the appellant the respondent submitted a bid in a letter dated Feb. 2, 1948. (Ex. A, #31, Tr. 77-78) After the bid was submitted the respondent made other contacts concerning this job; however, the hotel was not built. (Tr. 79)

PACIFIC ISLAND ENGINEERS

The respondent made numerous contacts on this client and on one contact the appellant went with him and was introduced to some of the personnel. A letter of April 3, 1948 (Ex. A, #35) makes a report concerning one of the contacts.

WATSONVILLE EXCHANGE INC.

Both of the parties and the respondent individually called on the Watsonville Exchange Inc. located in what was known as the Salad Bowl; the owners became sufficiently interested that they desired to see a Vogt tube-ice installation, and arrangements were made to take them to Las Vegas in order that they might view the Davis Dam. These clients were picked up by the respondent in his automobile and he drove them to Las Vegas where they met the appellant. (Tr. 89)

Numerous other contacts of the same general nature as the ones set out herein were made by the respondent, some of which are as follows: Hugh Bern (Tr. 70); George Sandy (Tr. 84); Fred McKenna, representing the American Dairy of San Jose (Tr. 83); Miller and Juan (Tr. 85); Ltr., June 1, 1948 (Ex. A, #36) Andreas Sorrona & Co. (Tr. 85); Ltr. July 2, 1948 (Ex. A, #37) Swift and Co. (Tr. 86); Ltr. July 22, 1948 (Ex. A, #38); rough figures submitted by respondent, Bud Antle Co. (Tr. 87, Ex. A, #39) Salinas Valley Vegetable Exchange (Tr. 90); Farmers' Mercantile Co. (Tr. 90).

Numerous other contacts were made on prospective clients, but they were not sufficiently interested to make

it necessary to create a file showing contacts or to write letters concerning these contacts. (Tr. 90)

As indicated in the respondent's answers to the appellant's statement of the case, the appellant tended to discount this work on the grounds that the respondent testified that he did not expect to get paid unless a sale was effectuated. The court also seemed to take the position that these contacts have no bearing on the case. (Tr. 345) However, a salesman working on a commission basis must recover a sufficient amount from the sales made to offset the expenses and time incurred on the contacts which do not culminate in a sale. It is submitted, therefore, that this work and these contacts are important and should be considered when viewing the evidence where a sale was made in a determination of what should be the reasonable value of the services performed. This evidence is also important in establishing the relationship existing between the parties. Consistently, the appellant has taken the position that there were no arrangements between them wherein they would work together except that the respondent might be taken in if a corporation was formed. Throughout the entire record the appellant makes the contention that the respondent was "horning in;" that he was told not to do this work; that the appellant would take care of all of the Vogt equipment, and such other statements. However, anyone reading this file of correspondence could only come to the conclusion that these parties were working closely together in an attempt to make a sale. There is no indication in any of the correspondence that these con-

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